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3.1. Disaster sector 
●​ Ministry of Home Affairs/ National Disaster Risk Reduction & Management 

Authority (NDRRMA) - Lead the overall response program after the disaster. Focal 
ministry for disaster risk reduction and management.   

●​ Nepal Army/ Armed Police Force/ Nepal Police - Are the first responder on 
disasters. Involved in Rescue and Relief activities. Also involved in environmental 
protection and disaster risk reduction. 

●​ Local governments - Focal point  for response and recovery program, including 
humanitarian shelter and housing programs, environmental protection, pollution 
control, waste management and DRR.   

●​ Department of Urban Development and Building Construction (DUDBC) -  Lead 
of Nepal shelter Cluster, Ministry of Urban Development implements the shelter and 
settlement program through this department.  

●​ Shelter Cluster Nepal / Global Shelter Cluster - Forum for shelter and settlement 
programs  

●​ NRCS/ IFRC - Supports communities and Governments to prepare for  the impact of 
natural hazards and to mitigate negative effects on shelter and settlements'. Also, the 
NRCS/IFRC facilitates the Shelter Cluster Nepal as co-lead.    

●​ UNRCO/ UN agencies - Supports communities and governments to prevent and 
combat disasters. Support in response and recovery of shelter and settlement 
programs, environment management and climate change adaptation.  

●​ I/NGOs - Habitat for Humanity, Care Nepal, WHH, CRS, Caritas, Oxfam, Lumanti,  
,Unicef, UNOPS, Oxfam, Caritas, Mercy Corps, NHSRP, LWF, AWO International, 
Plan International, People in Need, UMN, Save the Children, LUMANTI, World Vision 
International,UNDP,CSRC,WFP,UNFPA,UNEP,DCA,Welthhungerhilfe, FCDO, NSET, 
CSRC, Action Aid, CRS, ASF Nepal, DPNet- Nepal, Chaudhary Foundation  

●​ Academia (Tribhuvan University (TU), Kathmandu University(KU), Purbanchal 
University (PU) ) - Universities involved in research and design for shelter and 
settlement programs, environment, DRR, climate change, etc.  
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3.2. Housing sector 
●​ Ministry of Urban Development - Focal ministry for shelter and settlement 

programs  
●​ Department of Urban Development and Building Construction (DUDBC) -  

Ministry of Urban Development implements the shelter and settlement program 
through this department. Housing and settlements programs are supported by 
DUDBC.  

●​ Academia (TU, KU, PU) - Universities involved in research and design  
●​ NHSRP - Forum for shelter and housing programs  
●​ UN- Habitat - UN agency working in housing and settlements  
●​ INGO/ NGOs (Habitat for Humanity, Care Nepal, WHH, CRS, Caritas, Oxfam, 

Lumanti) - Involved in shelter and settlement programs  

3.3. Environment sector 
●​ Ministry of Forest and Environment - Focal ministry for forest, protected areas, 

biodiversity, pollution control, environmental assessment and climate change.  
Approves environmental assessment reports, review environmental management 
plan, monitoring report and conducts environmental audits    

●​ Department of Environment - Ministry of Forest and Environment implement 
pollution control and monitoring through the department.  

●​ Academia (TU, KU, Pokhara University, Purbanchal University ) - Universities 
involved in research and design  

●​ International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD) - 
Organization involved in research study and protection of environment and climate 
change of Hindu Kush himalayan regions  

●​ World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) - Organization involved in research, study and 
protection of environment and biodiversity 

●​ International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) - Organization involved in 
research, study and protection of biodiversity 

3.4. Other relevant key actors 
●​ Ministry of Women, Children and Senior Citizens - Focal ministry for GEDSI  
●​ Ministry of Water Supply /  Department of Water Supply and Sewerage 

Management - Focal institution of government of Nepal for implementation of water, 
sanitation and hygiene program in Nepal  

●​ Ministry of Energy, Water Resources and Irrigation, 
●​ Ministry of Land Management, Cooperatives and Poverty Alleviation 
●​ Ministry of Education, Science and Technology 
●​ Ministry of Physical Infrastructure and Transport 
●​ Ministry of Health - Focal ministry for health- disease control, prevention and cure  
●​ Ministry of Education, Science and Technology - Focal ministry for knowledge 

and technology transfer   
●​ Ministry of Land Management, Cooperatives and Poverty Alleviation- Focal 

ministry for land administration and management. It ensures efficient and effective 
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administration and sustainable management of available land resources throughout 
the country. 

●​ ADB/World Bank/ USAID/ DFID,European Union- Donor organisations which 
support GoN, organisations and other key actors for shelter, environment and DRR 
programs in Nepal. 
 

 
 

 3.5. Disaster Risk Reduction and Management 

The Disaster Risk Reduction and Management (DRRM) Act, 2017 and Local Government 

Operation Act (LGOA), 2017 provide the framework for all levels of government to work 

together on disaster risk reduction and response. The National Disaster Risk Reduction & 

Management Authority (NDRRMA) was established as per article 10 of the DRRM Act, 2017 

with mandates to lead, facilitate and support federal, provincial and local governments on 

disaster risk reduction, relief & response and reconstruction. NDRRMA manages the 

information of disasters and response through an online portal based on sets of databases. 

These database includes DRR database for information of people impacted by the disaster; 

VMS database for information of volunteer mobilization; GODAM database for resource 

(tools, equipment and stockpile) mapping; MDSA database for organization and finance 

mapping; RIMS database for information of supported instalments to impacted households; 

and NDRRMA -KOBO application for field data collection.   

The Ministry of Health Affairs (MoHA) has institutionalized National Emergency Operation 

Centre (NEOC), a coordinating arm for all disaster information management across the 

country. NEOC is established to enhance national emergency and seismic response 

capacity in Nepal through effective operation of national and district emergency operation 

facilities and data systems. NEOC performs its services through its network of 6 provincial 

EOCs, 70 district EOCs and 2 municipal EOCs which is presented in the figure below. 

 

 3.6. Disaster Response and Management 

The first responders after the disaster are community members themselves, neighbours 

pulled neighbours out of the rubble and people shared their scarce resources with those in 

need[6]. In each disaster in Nepal after the communities, the first responder for rescue and 

relief are the security forces mobilized by DDMC led by the Chief District Officer. After the 
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disaster, Nepal Red Cross Society in coordination with district administration conducted the 

Initial Rapid Assessment for the relief work. The stock pile along with the district disaster 

management fund is used for the rescue and relief work along with the support from 

agencies working in the area.  In large-scale disasters like the earthquake of 2015, the GoN 

declared a State of Emergency and made an international appeal for support. With help from 

donors and supporting organizations, the GoN  responded to deliver critical life-saving aid, 

emergency kits, cash and technical assistance to complement the efforts and resources of 

the affected communities.   

3.7. Preparedness and Response Plan 

NDRRMA has developed a Monsoon Preparedness and Response National Action Plan, 

2022 and all seven provinces have also developed their Monsoon Preparedness and 

Response Plan, 2021 respectively for preparedness and response of each year occurring 

monsoon-based hazards. The Monsoon Preparedness and Response plan was developed 

based on the plan of all ministries, security forces, humanitarian and development partner 

organizations and other related stakeholders. The plan is developed based on the past 

experiences and aims to forecast the likelihood of futures hazards; forecast the probable 

population to be affected by the disaster; coordinate and integrate the response plan of 

different ministries, departments and partner organizations and support the development of 

Monsoon Preparedness and Response Plan in province and local level1. 

3.8. National Platform and Global Platform for Disaster Risk 

Reduction 

The National Platform for DRR (NPDRR) was established in 2009 with the operational 

guidelines to enhance the coordination among the stakeholders of Disaster Risk Reduction 

and Mangement (DRRM). The Chief Executive of the NDRRMA Chairs the National Platform 

and Disaster Preparedness Network- Nepal (DPNet-Nepal) execute the role of secretariat of 

NPDRR. The platform has nine thematic groups involving various stakeholders – 

government, semi-government, Red Cross, UN and bilateral partners, international 

non-government organizations, national and local non-government organizations, media, 

disaster affected communities, academia and private sector. 

Nepal prepared a country paper on Risk to Resilience: Disaster Risk Reduction and 

Management in Nepal in the context of seventh Global Platform for Disaster Risk Reduction 

1 Monsoon Preparedness and Response Plan, https://bipad.gov.np/en/plan 
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(GPDRR2022) held in Bali, Indonesia on 23-28 May 2022. The Global Platform facilitates the 

governments, the UN system and all stakeholders review progress on the implementation of 

the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction. The report on Risk to Resilience: 

Disaster Risk Reduction and Management documented disastrous events which caused 

massive loss of lives and properties in Nepal and developed a way forward for coming days 

which is stated below2.  

●​ Nepal to focus on strengthening DRRM governance and technical capacity at 

federal, provincial and local levels through localizing national DRRM strategic 

action plans, multi-hazard risk assessment tools and methodologies, 

preparing risk sensitive development plans with inclusion of vulnerable 

communities and groups. 

●​ Strengthen NPDRR and establish a platform at local levels to enhance the 

coordination between stakeholders at grassroots. 

●​ Enhance and strengthen regional and global coordination along with UN and 

relevant partners for building national capacity to mark international 

standards. 

●​ Government to invest in DRRM research and education along with 

assessment of multi-hazard disaster risk at national, provincial and local 

levels for risk information. 

The environmental country profile shall help to better inform and mainstream the 

environment while developing the plan and country paper. Mainstreaming of the environment 

shall help in better conservation of natural resources and minimise the environmental 

footprint of response and recovery.  

2 Risk to Resilience: Disaster Risk Reduction and Management in Nepal, The Seventh Session of the 
Global Platform for Disaster Risk Reduction, MoHA, 2022 
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Figure 3‑1 :  Network of Emergency Operation Centres in Nepal (Source: MoHA, http://www.drrportal.gov.np/home ) 
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3.9 Key contacts 

 Disaster Management 

Ministry of Home Affairs, Tel:  +977-1-4211208, +977-1-4211214, 1112 (Toll Free No.), 
control@moha.gov.np, gunaso@moha.gov.np,  https://www.moha.gov.np/en 

Disaster Focal Person from Ministries and Departments.  

Name Designation Organisation Contact Email 

Pradeep 
Kumar 
Koirala 

Joint 
Secretary 

Ministry of Home 
Affairs 

01-4211241 

9851140005 

 

Hum 
Bahadur K.C. 

Joint 
Secretary 

Ministry of Law, 
Justice and 
Parliamentary 
Affairs 

01-4211176 
9841351471 

kchumbahadur@yahoo.com 

Gehendra 
Rajbhandari 

Joint 
Secretary 

Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs 

01-4200182 

9841254788 

gahendra7@hotmail.com 

Rishiraj 
Acharya 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Federal 
Affairs and General 
Administration 

9841296990 acharya22005@gmail.com 

Bishnu 
Prasad 
Bhattrai 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Youth 
and Sports 

01-4200550 
9851128282 

Bishnub888@gmail.com 

Madhu 
Timilsina 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Drinking 
Water 

01-4413744 
9841176171 

madhu.135@hotmail.com 

Bijendra 
Krishna 
Singh 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Forest 
and Environment 

01-4211567 
9841579982 

bijendra25@yahoo.com 
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Anup Nepal Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of 
Communication 
and Information 
Technology 

01-4211980 
9841520115 

anup.nepal@nepal.gov.np 

Mr. Dhurba 
Khadkha 

Under 
Secretary 

National Disaster 
Risk Reduction and 
Management 
Authority 
(NDRRMA) 

9841190254  

Lekhnath 
Gyawali 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Industry, 
Commerce and 
Supplies 

01-4211967 
9857038200 

lekhnathgyawali@gmail.com 

Phanindra 
Prasad 
Poudel 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Defence 01-4211285 
9841403866 

phanindrap894@gmail.com 

Amar 
Chandra 
Thakuri 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Energy, 
Water Resource 
and Irrigation 

01-4200119 
9848427500 

abcthakuri@hotmail.com 

Khima Devi 
Langwa 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Culture, 
Tourism and Civil 
Aviation 

9841445883 lgkhima@yahoo.com 

Krishna 
Prasad 
Sapkota 

Under 
Secretary 

OPMCM 01-4211073 
9851155801 

krishnasapkota00@gmail.co
m 

Ghanshyam 
Aryal 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of 
Education, Science 
and Technology 

01-4200383 
9856035455 

gsaryal@gmail.com 

Dr. Diwakar 
Luitel 

Under 
Secretary 

National Planning 
Commission 

01-4211133 
9841227934 

luiteldiwakar@gmail.com 

Dr. Sameer 
Kumar 
Adhikari 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Health 
and Population 

01-4250842 
9851054699 

adhikarisp@gmail.com 
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Arjun 
Bhandari 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Finance 01-4211301 
9843662700 

arjunofficial019@gmail.com 

Sundar 
Prasad 
Sharma 

Under 
Secretary 

Department of 
Forests and Soil 
Conservation 

9841311069 sharmasp1966@yahoo.com 

Bhōjarāja 
ghimire 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Labor, 
Employment and 
Social Protection 

01-4211984 
9841525862 

 

Gopal Giri Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Land 
Management, 
Cooperatives and 
Poverty Alleviation 

9841299599 gopal.giri@nepal.gov.np 

Tika Prasad 
Luitel 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of 
Agriculture and 
Livestock 
Development 

9851239295 luiteltp@gmail.com 

Matrika 
Acharaya 

Under 
Secretary 

Ministry of Home 
Affairs 

01-4200257 
9851037196 

acharya.matrika@gmail.com 

Balkrishna 
Simkhada 

Section 
Officer 

Ministry of Federal 
Affairs and General 
Administration 

  balkrsimkhada@gmail.com 

Hari Poudel Section 
Officer 

Ministry of Women, 
Children and 
Senior Citizen 

01-4200251 
9841491201 

hari.paudel@nepal.gov.np 

Shobha 
Bhandari 
Chalise 

Section 
Officer 

Ministry of Physical 
Infrastructure and 
Transportation 

01-4211570 
9843668713 

shovabhandari56@gmail.com 

Nirmala Karki Section 
Officer 

Department of 
Women and 
Children 

01-5521214 programme@dwc.gov.np 
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Ranjana Rai Section 
Officer 

Ministry of Home 
Affairs 

98512770119845288
924 

ranjana_rai88@yahoo.com 

Hari Bahadur 
Thapa 

S.D.E. Department of 
Water Resources 
and Irrigation 

01-55371369849377
566 

 

Binod 
BhatTerai 

S.D.E. Department of 
Roads 

9851115517 erbinōdabh@hmail.com 

Santosh 
Gurung 

kernel Nepal Army 01-4246490 

9846768163 

gurungsanto36@gmail.com 

Kuber 
Katayat 

SSP Nepal Police 01-4359306 

9851293444 

cmgmt@nepalpolice.gov.np, 
katayat123@gmail.com 

Yam Prasad 
Parajuli 

SSP National 
Investigation 
Department 

01-4211718 

9857621143 

  

Chiranjibi 
Gautam 

Deputy 
Director 

Department of 
Education 

9843219456   

Bhojraj 
Ghimire 

  Nepal Red Cross 
Society 

01-4272761 

9851007289 

bhojraj.ghimire@nrcs.org 

Dipendra 
Panta 

  Social Welfare 
Council 

01-5555448 

9841305769 

dipendra.panta@swc.org.np 

Sumeer 
Koirala 

  Department of 
Survey 

9851161924 sumeer.koirala@nepal.gov.np 

Kishor 
Kumar 
Bhatterai 

  Metropolitan 
emergency 
operation centre 

9851004397 kishorkbhatTerai1@gmail.co
m 
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Shyam 
Kishor Sah 

  Tribhuvan 
International Airport 
Civil Aviation Office 

01-4113033 

9851138338 

shyamk.sah@caanepal.gov.n
p, atcshyam@gmail.com 

Saroj kumar 
Pokhrel 

  Tribhuvan 
International Airport 
Civil Aviation Office 

9849031425 sarojkumarpokhrel@gmail.co
m 

Sunil 
Pokharel 

  Department Of 
Hydrology and 
Meteorology 

9841154377 sunilpokharel2014@gmail.co
m 

Bal krishna 
pokharel 

Director Nepal Chamber of 
Commerce 

01-4230947 

9851281325 

bpokharen@gmail.com 

Bipul 
Neupane 

Director Nepal Red Cross 
Society 

01-4270650 

9851012617 

bipul.neupanel@nrcs.org 

Dev 
Chandralal 
Karn 

Director Civil Aviation 
Authority of Nepal 

01-4262324 

9841305937 

d_karna@hotmail.com 

Krishna 
Tuladhar 

Director Central Bureau of 
Statistics 

01-4245946 

9841189895 

krishna_n@hotmail.com 

Amit Singh DSP Armed Police 
Force 

01-5249042 

9851022556 

apfdisastermgmt@gmail.com 

Kishwor 
Shrestha 

S.D.E. Ministry of Urban 
Development 

01-4200282 

9808776214 

kishor9712@gmail.com 

Mira Gyawali S.D.E. Department of 
Urban 
Development & 
Building 
Construction 

01-4257890 

9841312742 
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Dr Rajit Ojha S.D.E. Department of 
Water Supply and 
Sewerage 
Management 

  itsmerajeet@gmail.com 

Bikram 
Shrestha 
Zoowa 

Senior 
Divisional 
Hydrologist 

Department Of 
Hydrology and 
Meteorology 

01-4441092 
9860088578 

b_zoowa@hotmail.com 

Source: MoHA[1] 

  

National Disaster Risk Reduction and Management Authority, Tel: 01-4211195, info@bipad.gov.np, 
ndrrma@gmail.com,   www.bipad.gov.np 

  

Environmental 

Ministry of Forest and Environment, Tel: 1-4211567, 16600101000, info@mofe.gov.np, 
http://www.mofe.gov.np/ 

Department of Environment (DoE), Tel: 01-5320497, 5320837,  info@doenv.gov.np, 
http://doenv.gov.np/ 

Department of Forests and Soil Conservation, Tel: 977-1-5320303, 977-1-5321231, 

977-1-5316379, info@dofsc.gov.np, https://www.dofsc.gov.np/ 

  

Shelter and Settlements 

Ministry of Urban Development, Tel: 977-1-4211673, info@moud.gov.np, https://moud.gov.np/ 

 Department of Urban Development and Building Construction, Tel: 977-1-4262969/4262535, 
info@dudbc.gov.np,  http://www.dudbc.gov.np/?lang=en 

  

Other 

Ministry of Women, Children and Senior Citizens, Tel: 1618-01-4200082,  info@mowcsc.gov.np, 
https://www.mowcsc.gov.np/en/# 
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Central Bureau of Statistics, Tel: +977-14229406, +977-14265323, 
https://censusnepal.cbs.gov.np/Home/Index 

  

International Organizations - Disaster, Shelter & Settlements and Environment 

Nepal Red Cross Society, Tel: +977-1-5370650, +977-1-537 2761, +977-1-537 2761, nrcs@nrcs.org, 
info@nrcs.org, https://nrcs.org/ 

UN Nepal, https://un.org.np/ 

Humanitarian Coordination and Clusters Provincial Focal Point Agencies contact list[2] 

PROVINCE AGENCY NAME MOBILE 
(977) 

EMAIL 

One 
IOM 

Dwarika 
Ghimire 

9842181070 dpghimire@iom.int 

Two UNFPA Narendra 
Mishra 

9801608233 
nmishra@unfpa.org 

Bagmati 
RCO 

WHO 
(PHEOC) 

Prem Awasthi 

Sabita Poudel 

9858021752 

9851118788 
prem.awasthi@one.un.org 
spoudel@who.int  

Gandaki WHO Bhanu 
Yengden 

9849000740 yengdenb@who.int 

Five UNICEF Riddhi Sharma 
9857017261 risharma@unicef.org 

Karnali 
WFP 

Purna Nepali 
9857061313 purna.nepali@wfp.org 

Sudur Paschim 
UNDP 

Satish Pandey 
9851059064 

satish.pandey.np@undp.org 

 Housing Recovery & Reconstruction Platform, Tel: +977-1-5544149, info@hrrpnepal.org, 
https://www.hrrpnepal.org/ 

UN-Habitat, Tel: +977-1-5451091, +977-1-5438477, unhabitat.nepal@unhabitat.org.np 
https://unhabitat.org.np/ 
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IOM, Tel: +977 01-4526250, iomnepal@iom.int,   https://nepal.iom.int/ 

Habitat for Humanity, Tel: +977 01-5521182, https://habitatnepal.org/ 

WHH, Tel: +977 01-5452060, https://www.welthungerhilfe.org/our-work/countries/nepal 

Care Nepal, Tel: 01-5422800, npl.carenepal@care.org, http://carenepal.org/ 

UN Women, https://un.org.np/agency/un-women,  https://data.unwomen.org/country/nepal 

WWF Nepal, Tel: +97714534820, info@wwfnepal.org, https://www.wwfnepal.org/ 

ICOMOD, Tel: +977 1-527-5222, 5275223, info@icimod.org,  https://www.icimod.org/ 

International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN), Tel:  +977 1 5428781, info-np@iucn.org, 

https://www.iucn.org/our-work/region/asia/countries/nepal 

Asian Development Bank, Tel: +977 1 4290100, 42901001 
https://www.adb.org/countries/nepal/main 

The World Bank in Nepal, Tel: +977 1 4236000, +977 1 4226792, infonepal@worldbank.org, 

https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/nepal 

 USAID Nepal, Tel: 977-1-423-4620,  usaidnepal@usaid.gov, https://www.usaid.gov/nepal 

 

 

 

[1] Nepal Disaster Risk Reduction Portal, GoN, http://drrportal.gov.np/disasterfocalperson, 

Accessed on January 31, 2023 

[2] United Nation Nepal,  https://un.org.np/humanitarian-coordination-and-clusters 
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